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Worcester Regional Transit Authority 

 

Request for Proposals (RFP) #2023-02 

Security Guard Services at WRTA Hub 

RFP Issue Date: February 13, 2023 

Addendum #1 

Addendum Issue Date: March 2, 2023 

The Worcester Regional Transit Authority (WRTA) is issuing this addendum to the above-mentioned 
Request for Proposals (RFP) for the purpose of clarifying and answering questions submitted on or 
before the RFP Questions, Comments, and Requests for Clarification Deadline of February 24, 2023.   

Questions & Clarifications 

Question 1:   Why are you requesting security service? Have there been any incidents to warrant 
having security officers present.   

Answer 1: The WRTA Hub is a transit center in downtown Worcester where passengers access 
buses, transfer between buses, or utilize the Customer Service Center. Due to the public 
nature of the facility, WRTA is seeking Security Guard Services in order to provide a safe, 
and secure environment for its passengers, and employees.  

Question 2:   Why is this going out to bid?   

Answer 2: WRTA is a recipient of Federal assistance awarded by the Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA). In order to use Federal funds, the WRTA must adhere to FTA procurement rules 
and regulations.  

Question 3:   Do you want to retain any current security officers?   

Answer 3: No, all Security Guards are employees of the current contractor.  

Question 4:   What are the current wage and bill rates?   

Answer 4: The wage rates are unknown and the bill rates are $21.50 per hour. 

Question 5:   How will breaks be handled?   
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Answer 5: Break and meal times are handled at the discretion of the Proposer, with the 
understanding that one guard shall remain on duty to cover the Hub property. 

Question 6:   RFP mentions security officers should report all incidents to WRTA. What is the 
procedure for this?   

Answer 6: The procedure is to be determined between WRTA and the selected Proposer. In 
general, WRTA expects to be notified of an incident requiring Police/Fire/EMS 
involvement; or any other occurrences considering the nature of the violation within 24 
hours of the violation/incident.  

Question 7:   RFP mentions security officers send in a report monthly. Can you please explain in 
further detail what is required to be on this report? RFP states “all Security activities, 
incidents, issues, etc.”. Who will the report be submitted to?  

Answer 7: The monthly report must be prepared by the selected Proposer, and indicate a summary 
of all Security incidents, and/or issues from the prior month. Proposers must submit a 
sample report or example that their firm currently utilizes, but if such report template 
does not exist, the report is to be developed between WRTA and the selected Proposer.  

 
 The WRTA must submit a monthly Safety and Security report to the National Transit 

Database (NTD) of activities that occurred on its vehicles, or its properties. Examples 
include assault, theft, injuries, vandalism, slip and fall, etc. The report provided to WRTA 
by the selected Proposer is integral for WRTA to remain in compliance with Federal rules 
and regulations. 

Question 8:   What is your hands on policy?   

Answer 8: The WRTA is procuring unarmed Security Guard services; and WRTA considers unarmed 
Security Guards to be “hands-off”.  

Question 9:   RFP mentions cell phones are required for security officers and WRTA staff. Are radios 
also required? If so, how many cell phones and radios are needed. 

Answer 9: The RFP states that the Proposer shall be responsible for providing its staff, and relevant 
WRTA staff, with any communication devices/cell phones, etc. (which may include 
radios instead of cell phones). The number of devices to be provided to WRTA staff is to 
be determined between the WRTA and the selected Proposer. 

Question 10:   Is this bid part of the State of Massachusetts FAC115?   

Answer 10: While not formally part of COMMBUYS, the WRTA is able to participate. Vendors listed 
on the referenced COMMBUYS contract are able to submit a proposal to WRTA at the 
pricing rates on the FAC115 contract. 
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Question 11:   The RFP cover page states the Proposal Due Date as March 23. However, Section 2.1 on 
page 4 of the RFP and Section 2.2 on page 5 of the RFP state the Proposal Due Date as 
March 16. Please clarify the Proposal Due Date.   

Answer 11: Proposals shall be submitted to the WRTA no later than 2:00 PM on March 16, 2023. 
The March 23, 2023 reference on the cover page of the RFP was listed in error.    

Question 12:   The last bulleted item of Section 2.9 on Page 7 of the RFP asks: Is your organization 
bonded? If so, for how much? Please submit a copy of an active insurance binder. The 
dishonest acts of our company’s personnel are covered by commercial crime insurance, 
but we do not bond our personnel. May commercial crime insurance be substituted for 
fidelity bonding? May we submit a certificate of insurance showing our crime insurance 
coverage instead of an active insurance binder?   

Answer 12: A Certificate of Insurance showing all requested insurance amounts is acceptable to the 
WRTA. 

Question 13:   We note that separate adjusted bill rates may be quoted for each year of the initial 3-
year contract term. See Exhibit B on page 21 of the RFP. Will the WRTA also permit the 
Contractor to raise rates when and as needed to recoup increases in the following 
additional costs that are outside of the Contractor’s control: Federal, state or local taxes, 
levies, or required withholdings; costs under collective bargaining agreements; 
minimum, prevailing and living wage rates and other statutory requirements, such a 
legally mandated sick leave costs; and medical and other benefit costs? If so, please 
describe the process by which the Contractor will be able to submit a request for a rate 
adjustment.  

Answer 13: The prices agreed to for the initial 3-year contract are firm fixed price. The prices for 
Option Years 4 through 10, if exercised, will be negotiated between the WRTA and the 
selected Proposer. At that time, if the Proposer so chooses, to request a rate adjustment 
from the rates indicated during the initial 3-year contract. 

Question 14:   Are renewal years after the 3-year initial term contingent upon mutual agreement of 
both parties regarding renewal period bill rates?  

Answer 14: See Answer 13. 

Question 15:   Our company carries Professional Liability coverage as part of the Commercial General 
Liability policy and not as a stand-alone policy. Can the references to Professional 
Liability coverage in Section 4.8 on page 16 of the RFP and Section 9.A on page 45 of the 
Agreement be supplemented by the following to reflect those parameters? “Such 
coverage may be combined with the commercial general liability limits.” 
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Answer 15: The WRTA understands it is not uncommon to see the Professional Liability be 
combined on this type of risk. The WRTA would need to review the Certification 
provided as part of a proposer’s submittal to see how the limits look and if the 
Professional Liability has a separate aggregate from the General Liability. 

Question 16: Our company carries Excess Liability insurance, but we do not carry Umbrella Liability 
insurance. Can references to “Umbrella Liability” in Section 4.8 on page 16 of the RFP 
and Section 9.A on page 45 of the Agreement be replaced with a reference to “Excess or 
Umbrella Liability, “so as to permit the Contractor to provide either excess coverage or 
umbrella coverage? 

Answer 16: Yes, it is acceptable to state Excess Liability in lieu of Umbrella Liability. 

Question 17: Our company routinely adds clients as additional insureds on our insurance policies, so 
long as our obligations are aligned with our indemnification obligations and limited to 
the specified insurance limits we have agreed to provide. The foregoing parameters are 
stated in our contracts, and the additional insured endorsements to all of our insurance 
policies cover each additional insured “where required by written contract.” Our blanket 
additional insured endorsements automatically cover any party we are required by 
written contract to cover as an additional insured without the necessity of expressly 
naming such party. Can Section 4.8(a) on page 16 of the RFP and Section 9.B(a) on page 
46 of the Agreement be revised as follows to reflect that standard? 

Insert the following as the first sentence: “The entities list above, their subsidiaries, 
officers, agents and employees and any other entity specified by Worcester Regional 
Transit Authority shall be included as additional insured, to the extent of the 
Contractor’s indemnification obligations under the Agreement and up to the required 
insurance coverage amount, on all policies (except for Workers’ Compensation 
coverage.)” On line 2, replace the word “name” with the word “include.” On line 4, 
insert the phrase “where required by written contract” after the reference to 
“additional insured” at the end of the first sentence. 

Answer 17:  The WRTA understands that most additional insured endorsements include the verbiage 
“where required by written contract”; which would likely be included in the Agreement 
with the selected Proposer. 

 
Question 18: Our company stands behind our security services and regularly accepts the obligation to 

indemnify and defend clients for the portion of any losses, costs or damages that are 
caused by the negligent acts or omissions of our personnel in the performance of 
security services under client agreements.  Can Section 8 on page 44 of the Agreement 
be revised as follows to reflect that standard? 

On line 3, replace the phrase “arising out of” with the phrase “to the extent caused by.” 
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Can Section 11.B on page 46 of the Agreement be revised to give the Contractor the 
reciprocal right to terminate the Agreement for Convenience on ninety (90) days’ prior 
written notice to WRTA? 

Answer 18: The WRTA will not incorporate the suggested edits. 

Question 19: At what percentage is your security program currently staffed? 

Answer 19: The WRTA does not employ any Security staff; Security Guards are employed by the 
current Contractor. 

Question 20: Is there a union agreement in place at WRTA for the security program? (i.e. 32BJ) 

Answer 20: No. 

Question 21: Do you have any wage requirements – such as prevailing wage or minimum wage? 

Answer 21: Prevailing wages do not apply to this procurement. The selected Proposer must follow 
minimum Federal and Commonwealth of Massachusetts laws for wage rates. 

Question 22: Are there any vacation or benefit requirements in addition to the 6 holidays listed in 
RFP? 

Answer 22: Any staff assigned to this project are employees of the selected Proposer. It is up to the 
selected Proposer to determine vacation time, and benefits of their own employees. 

Question 23: Regarding billing – please explain what is meant by; The WRTA will only pay by original 
invoice? 

Answer 23: For this project, the WRTA defines an original invoice as a document of an itemized list 
of all services provided over a defined period of time (typically one month). The original 
invoice document generally is on company letterhead; identifying the supplier, 
addressed to the WRTA, and shows the charges for services provided. Emailed invoices 
are preferred by the WRTA.  

Question 24: Do you want to retain any existing officers from your current provider? If so, how many? 
Can you please provide an Officer seniority list? 

Answer 24: See Answer 3. 

Question 25: What are the current Officer pay rates? 

Answer 25: See Answer 4. 

Question 26: Can you provide the current bill rates? 

Answer 26: See Answer 4. 

Question 27: Can you provide the list of companies that attended the Pre-Proposal Meeting? 
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Answer 27: Minutes from the Pre-Proposal Meeting are included at the end of this Addendum. 

Question 28: Do you require any specific testing for Officers? 

Answer 28: The WRTA cannot answer this question, because there is not enough detail.  

Question 29: Are there any fees associated with the contract (i.e., performance fees)? 

Answer 29: There are no performance fees, or any other fees outside of the Cost Proposal Form 
(Exhibit B) of the RFP. 

Question 30: Is there any special or specific Officer certification requirements? 

Answer 30: Outside of what the WRTA has listed for requirements in the RFP, WRTA would ask 
Proposers to highlight any certification requirements their staff have.  

Question 31: In addition to the CORI and SORI requirements listed in the RFP, do you require 
background checks outside of standard licensing background checks? 

Answer 31: No. 

Question 32: Does WRTA require the use of a physical touring tracking system to be implemented? 

Answer 32: While not a requirement, the WRTA would ask Proposers to describe this system in their 
proposal. 

Question 33: Will WRTA be sharing all questions submitted with responses for all parties interested in 
submitting a bid to review? 

Answer 33: Yes, all questions received by WRTA, and responses issued by the WRTA are in this 
Addendum #1 document. 

Question 34: Within the required 253 hours to fill, is WRTA seeking a Supervisor/Manager position? 

Answer 34: No, however WRTA expects that Security Guards on duty will have a direct line to a 
Supervisor/Manager. Supervisor/Manager costs shall be provided as an indirect rate in 
Exhibit B: Cost Proposal Form. 

Question 35: Does WRTA require any specific training/certifications that are not mentioned in the RFP 
Advertisement? If so, is the cost expected to be the responsibility of the client or by the 
company awarded the contract? 

Answer 35: See Answer 30. Costs would be the responsibility of the selected Proposer.  

Question 36: For invoicing purposes, is there a specific net requirement? 

Answer 36: Payment terms are net 30 days from the invoice date. Invoices are due to WRTA 15 days 
after the month in which services were provided. 
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Question 37: Are we responsible for the Union Station location as well as the main site at 60 Foster 
Street? 

Answer 37: No, Union Station is patrolled by the Worcester Police Department.  

Question 38: Can you please clarify the date the proposal is due – March 16th or March 23rd (both 
dates are listed in the RFP)? 

Answer 38: See Answer 11. 
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Worcester Regional Transit Authority 

 

Request for Proposals (RFP) #2023-02 Security Guard Services at WRTA Hub 

Pre-Proposal Meeting Notes 

Date: February 21, 2023  

Location: WRTA Hub, Advisory Board Conference Room 

Attendees: 
Nick Burnham, WRTA 
Tom Coyne, WRTA 
Tony Poccia, Arrow Security 
Martin Michelman, Sr., Alliance Detective and Security Service 
Endri Cenolli, Jet Security 
Sean Meehan, United Security 
Phil Franzen, Complete Security & Technology Solutions Inc. 
Steven LaCava, Complete Security & Technology Solutions Inc. 
Murtadha Daffaie, Allied Universal 
Zakariya Almallan, Allied Universal 
 

Meeting Opened at 10:00 AM 

Nick Burnham thanked all for their attendance, and asked for around the room introductions. 

Mr. Burnham reviewed key elements of the RFP including Instructions to Respondents and Specifications 
and Requirements, and discussed the various Exhibits that each Proposer are expected to submit with 
their proposal. He highlighted the dates in Section 2.1: Procurement Schedule for Proposers to note.  

Proposers asked clarifying questions regarding the hours of operation, and personnel requirements 
listed in Section 3 of the RFP. A discussion regarding Narcan/CPR training, and national background 
checks was held between meeting attendees. 

Mr. Burnham offered Proposers to take a self-guided tour of the WRTA Hub premises, as the majority of 
Security Services would be needed outside on the platform.  

Without any additional questions, Mr. Burnham closed the meeting. 

Meeting Closed at 10:28 AM.  

 


